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Atte−ndees: 

− Angie Bradbury - Chair

− Ross Wilson - Treasurer

Wine Victoria 
AGM Meeting 2018 

Minutes of Meeting 

4:00pm – 5:30pm November 20, 2018 
Treasury Wine Estates, Level 8, 161 Collins Street Melbourne VIC 3000 

− Rachael Sweeney - Wine Victoria Executive Officer

− Tom Carson - Board Member

−  Lon Evans - Board Member
− Alex King - Board Member

− Damien Sheehan - Board Member

− Nikki Palun - Board Member

− Gerry Ryan - Board Member

− Ashley Spencer - TWE Board Alternate

− Kellyn Patterson

− Helen Strachan - Pernod Ricard (guest)

− Rory Lane - Regional Council, Grampians

− Matt Fowles - Regional Council, Strathbogie Ranges

− Eliza Brown - Regional Council, Rutherglen

− Martin Spedding - Regional Council Mornington Peninsula

− Natalie Pizzini - Regional Council, King Valley

− Chris Gillard

− Caroline Evans - Executive Officer, Yarra Valley

− Dean Cleave-Smith - Regional Council, King Valley

Dial – In: 

− Cecilia Burgman - Board Member

Apologies: 

− Tim Shand - Regional Council, Yarra Valley

− Deborah D’Cruz

− Renee Murphy
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Meeting Minutes - Wine Victoria Board and Annual General Meeting 

Tuesday 20 November 2018 - Wine Tasting Room –Treasury Wine Estates: 161 Collins Street, Melbourne VIC 3000 

 
Item Agenda Discussion Outcome 

 
1 Welcome & 

minutes of 

previous AGM 

 
- The Chair welcomed attendees, introduced the WineVictoria board members 

and reviewed the 2018 AGM minutes 

- Opening remarked included acknowledgment of the success of the new 

membership fee structure 

- The Chair thanked the members of the board for their contribution and time 

over the past year 

 
Regional Attendees: 

 
o Rory Lane 

o Matt Fowles 

o Eliza Brown 

o Martin Spedding 

o Natalie Pizzini 

o Chris Gillard 

o Caroline Evans 

o Dean Cleave-Smith 

 
   Apologies: 

o Tim Shand 

o Deborah D’Cruz 

o Renee Murphy 
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2 Treasurer’s 

Report 

- The Treasurer was happy to report positive cash flow for the first time in 

many years 

o This was due to membership fees being paid, and 

o The winning of grants for the industry 

- Rachel thanked Ross for all his work as treasurer 

- The board moved that the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2018 

was accepted 

- The board moved to reappoint Mohamed Jinan of Bruce Edmunds & 

Associates Pty Ltd as editor for 2019 

- The board reviewed and accepted the report for Auditing 

 
 
 
 
 

 
o Alex King to sign certificate by 

member of the committee on behalf 

of the board 

3 Future Focus - The Chair opened the new agenda item by acknowledging the board and 

regional members, but gave special thanks to Rachael and her team at 

collective position for all their hard work, especially on government 

relationships 

 
2019 Focus 

- Government involvement will be crucial moving forward, and increased 

government support and funding is forecasted 

- New Wine Victoria levy to replace membership fee scheme 

- Five-Pillars program 

- Wine & Health lobbying 

- Tax reform 

- Government MoU for ongoing commitment 
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  The Health Issue 

- Health lobby groups are very well resourced and extremely vocal at the 

moment. The chair urged regional members to be discussing the issues of the 

government sponsored tv shows painting alcohol as cancer-causing, and 

lobbying for health warning labels on wine within their associations 

- WineVictoria and WFA have discussed working together to provide 

workshops on how to talk about the health issue, and manage the rapidly 

changing dynamic 

- The members also encouraged one another to speak to local representatives, 

to bring the issue to the forefront in their local areas 

 
Increasing representation 

o The Chair expressed the board gratitude for the increased funding, and gave 

special thanks to Rachael and the collective position team. 

 

4 Wine 

Equalisation Tax 

- Board member Tom Carson of Yabby Lake talked through issues to the WET 

tax claim changes effective as of 1 July 2018 which make is difficult to be 

compliant 

- Tom suggested producers work with their accountants and distributors to 

understand where sold wine ends up to help inform claiming taxable sales 

- WFA Regional WET Tax workshops are being done to help make the industry 

aware of the issue and direct communications to associations and members 

will be circulated 

- In the meantime, members are encouraged to be careful, and invite internal 

finance staff to association meetings and workshops 

 
o WineVic board to work with WFA on 

internal communications to be 
circulated 

5  
Meeting close 

 
- As there was no further business to discuss, the meeting closed at 5:30pm 
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WINE VICTORIA INCORPORATED
ABN  25 484 327 174

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
Note 2019 2018

$ $

Revenue 745,537 284,535

Other income 25,000 50,636

Other expenses (724,417) (282,244)

Profit before income tax 2 46,120 52,927

Income tax expense -  -  

Profit for the year 46,120 52,927

Profit attributable to members of the entity 46,120 52,927

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

These statements should be read in conjunction with the attached compilation report.
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WINE VICTORIA INCORPORATED
ABN  25 484 327 174

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 30 JUNE 2019
Note 2019 2018

$ $

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash on hand 3 1,514,821 43,683
Accounts receivable and other debtors 4 385,637 82,277
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,900,458 125,960

TOTAL ASSETS 1,900,458 125,960

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other payables 6 1,797,401 69,023
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,797,401 69,023

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,797,401 69,023

NET ASSETS 103,057 56,937

MEMBERS' FUNDS
Retained earnings 103,057 56,937
TOTAL MEMBERS' FUNDS 103,057 56,937

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

These statements should be read in conjunction with the attached compilation report.
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WINE VICTORIA INCORPORATED
ABN  25 484 327 174

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Retained 
Earnings Total

$ $
Balance at 1 July 2017 4,010 4,010
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year 52,927 52,927
Total comprehensive income for the 
year attributable to members of the 
association 52,927 52,927
Balance at 30 June 2018 56,937 56,937

Balance at 1 July 2018 56,937 56,937
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year 46,120 46,120
Total comprehensive income for the 
year attributable to members of the 
association 46,120 46,120
Balance at 30 June 2019 103,057 103,057

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

These statements should be read in conjunction with the attached compilation report.
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WINE VICTORIA INCORPORATED
ABN  25 484 327 174

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
Note 2019 2018

$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from members and government 2,001,878 258,751
Interest received 317 100
 
Payments to suppliers (531,056) (262,220)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 7 1,471,139 (3,369)

Net increase (decrease) in cash held 1,471,139 (3,369)
Cash on hand at beginning of financial year 43,682 47,051
Cash on hand at end of financial year 7 1,514,821 43,682

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

These statements should be read in conjunction with the attached compilation report.
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WINE VICTORIA INCORPORATED
ABN  25 484 327 174

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Preparation

(a) Income Tax

(b) Accounts Receivable and Other Debtors

(c) Cash on Hand

(d) Revenue and Other Income

These notes should be read in conjunction with the attached compilation report.

The financial statements are special purpose financial statements prepared in order to satisfy the financial
reporting requirements of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 Victoria. The committee has
determined that the association is not a reporting entity.

The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historic costs and does not
take into account changing money values or, except where stated specifically, current valuations of non-current
assets.

The following significant accounting policies, which are consistent with the previous period unless stated
otherwise, have been adopted in the preparation of these financial statements.

No provision for income tax has been raised, as the entity is exempt from income tax under Division 50 of
the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

Accounts receivable and other debtors include amounts due from members as well as amounts receivable
from donors. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are
classified as current assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current assets.

Cash on hand includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Non-reciprocal grant revenue is recognised in profit or loss when the association obtains control of the grant
and it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow to the association and the
amount of the grant can be measured reliably.

If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before it is eligible to receive the contribution,
the recognition of the grant as revenue will be deferred until those conditions are satisfied.
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WINE VICTORIA INCORPORATED
ABN  25 484 327 174

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

(e) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

These notes should be read in conjunction with the attached compilation report.

When grant revenue is received whereby the association incurs an obligation to deliver economic value
directly back to the contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the grant revenue is
recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability until the service has been delivered to the
contributor, otherwise the grant is recognised as income on receipt.

The association receives non-reciprocal contributions of assets from the government and other parties for
zero or a nominal value. These assets are recognised at fair value on the date of acquisition in the
statement of financial position, with a corresponding amount of income recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received.

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method, which for floating rate financial assets is
the rate inherent in the instrument.

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customer.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the
statement of financial position.
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WINE VICTORIA INCORPORATED
ABN  25 484 327 174

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
2019 2018

$ $

2. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
(a) Expenses:

Auditors' remuneration 3,750 3,750

(b) Revenue and net gains:
Net gain on disposal of non-current assets:
Investments - 636

3. CASH ON HAND
Westpac Bank Account 921036 366,071 24,924
Westpac Cash Reserve 425 18,759
Westpac Bank Account 048447 1,148,325 -  

1,514,821 43,683

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER DEBTORS
CURRENT
Trade receivables 385,637 82,277

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Office furniture and equipment - 1,073
Less accumulated depreciation - (1,073)

Total property, plant and equipment -  -  

6. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER PAYABLES
CURRENT
Goods and services tax 113,207 5,387
Trade creditors 85,539 -  
Income in Advance 1,598,655 63,636

1,797,401 69,023

7. CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash on hand at the end of financial year as included in the
statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the
statement of financial position as follows:

Cash at Bank 1,514,821 43,682
1,514,821 43,682

These notes should be read in conjunction with the attached compilation report.
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WINE VICTORIA INCORPORATED
ABN  25 484 327 174

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
2019 2018

$ $

(b) Reconciliation of cash flow from operating activities with net current year profit

Current year profit after income tax 46,120 52,927
Cash flows excluded from current year profit:
Bad debts written off -  15,781

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease / (increase) in Accounts Receivables and Other 
Debtors (303,360) (33,597)

Increase / (Decrease) in Accounts Payables and Other Creditors 85,539 -  
Increase / (Decrease) in Income in Advance 1,535,019 (42,722)
Increase / (Decrease) in GST Payable 107,821 4,242
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 1,471,139 (3,369)

These notes should be read in conjunction with the attached compilation report.
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WINE VICTORIA INCORPORATED
ABN  25 484 327 174

STATEMENT BY MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE

1.

2.

President ________________________________
Angie Bradbury

Treasurer ________________________________
Ross Wilson

Dated:

The committee has determined that the association is not a reporting entity and that this special purpose financial
report should be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies outlined in Note 1 to the financial statements.

In accordance with a resolution of the committee of Wine Victoria Incorporated, the members of the committee
declare that the financial statements for the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes:

present a true and fair view of the financial position of Wine Victoria Incorporated as at 30 June 2019 and its
performance for the year ended on that date in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 1 to
the financial statements and the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012; and

at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that Wine Victoria Incorporated will be
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

This statement is signed for and on behalf of the committee by:
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WINE VICTORIA INCORPORATED
ABN  25 484 327 174

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBER OF

WINE VICTORIA INCORPORATED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

Basis for Opinion

Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting

Responsibilities of the Committee for the Financial Report

Auditor's Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Report

We have audited the financial report of Wine Victoria Incorporated (the association), which comprises the
committee's report, statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019 and the statement of profit or loss for the year
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Wine Victoria Incorporated presents fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Wine Victoria Incorporated as at 30 June 2019 and of its financial performance for
the year then ended in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 1 to the financial statements and
the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 Victoria.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We
are independent of the association in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and
Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our
audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial report has
been prepared to assist Wine Victoria Incorporated to meet the requirements of the Associations Incorporation
Reform Act 2012. As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

The committee of Wine Victoria Incorporated is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
report in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012
Victoria and for such internal control as the committee determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair
presentation of a financial report that is free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the committee is responsible for assessing the association’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the committee either intends to liquidate the association or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
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WINE VICTORIA INCORPORATED
ABN  25 484 327 174

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBER OF

WINE VICTORIA INCORPORATED

-

-

-

-

-

Bruce Edmunds & Associates Assurance Pty Ltd
Chartered Accountants

Beaumaris, Vic, 3193

________________________________________
Director:  Stephen Edmunds

Beaumaris

Dated: 18/11/2019

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
association’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the committee.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the committee's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the association’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the association to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with the committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

13 North Concourse
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WINE VICTORIA INCORPORATED
ABN  25 484 327 174

CERTIFICATE BY MEMBER OF THE COMMITTEE

a.

b.

Dated:

Committee Member ________________________________

I, ............................................................................................................................................................... , certify that:

I attended the annual general meeting of the association held on ........

The financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019 were submitted to the members of the association at its 
annual general meeting.
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WINE VICTORIA INCORPORATED
ABN  25 484 327 174

PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Note 2019 2018
$ $

INCOME
Interest received 317 100
Miscellaneous income - 1,852
Government grant 509,123 124,994
Vic cellar door rebate advocacy contr - 636
GWRDC Industry development grant 25,000 50,000
Producers 96,570 52,346
Regional association membership fees 139,526 105,243

770,536 335,171

LESS EXPENDITURE
Executive support 156,670 134,800
Accounting fees 2,516 -  
Auditors' remuneration 3,750 3,750
Bad debts - 15,781
Bank charges 71 120
Merchant fees 480 360
Bookkeeping services 4,982 1,075
Brand development 197,957 -  
Computer hardware/software 1,774 -  
Consulting - food source 29,073 -  
Consultancy fees 4,482 7,291
Wine growth trade expenses - 25,000
GWRDC Regional program 25,000 50,000
China Trade Program Expenses - 34,437
Insurance 2,017 2,058
Legal Fees 231 229
Executive meeting expenses 997 1,684
Marketing expenses 2,987 -  
Conferences 3,096 2,591
Catering 662 1,459
Photography - 480
Printing and stationery 1,441 -  
Project management 146,896 -  
Repairs and maintenance - 520
Research and strategy communication 6,050 -  
Storage fees 545 534
Telephone 3,308 -  
Teleconferencing - 75
Trade support and programs 107,415 -
Travelling expenses 22,016 -  

724,416 282,244

NET OPERATING PROFIT 46,120 52,927

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

These statements should be read in conjunction with the attached compilation report.
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WINE VICTORIA INCORPORATED
ABN  25 484 327 174

PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Note 2019 2018
$ $

Retained Profits at the beginning of the financial year 56,937 4,010

TOTAL AVAILABLE FOR APPROPRIATION 103,057 56,937

RETAINED PROFITS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 103,057 56,937

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

These statements should be read in conjunction with the attached compilation report.
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 Rules of Victorian Wine Industry Association Incorporated, trading as Wine Victoria 

Note 

The persons who from time to time are members of the Association are an incorporated association by the name given in rule 
1 of these Rules. 

Under section 46 of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012, these Rules are taken to constitute the terms of a 
contract between the Association and its members. 

PART 1—PRELIMINARY 

1 Name 

The name of the incorporated association is “Victorian Wine Industry Association 
Incorporated".  The Association trades under the name “Wine Victoria”. 

2 Purposes 

The purposes of the Association are to promote and represent the interests of Victorian 
winemakers and grape growers of all sizes on state and national issues through a single 
organisation. 

3 Financial year 

The financial year of the Association is each period of 12 months ending on 30 June. 

4 Definitions 

In these Rules— 

absolute majority, of the Board, means a majority of the Board members currently holding 
office and entitled to vote at the time (as distinct from a majority of Board members 
present at a Board meeting); 

associate member means a member referred to in rule 8(2). 

Board means the Board having management of the business of the Association; 

Board meeting means a meeting of the Board held in accordance with these Rules; 

Board member means a member of the Board elected or appointed under Division 3 of 
Part 5; 

Chairperson, of a general meeting or Board meeting, means the person chairing the 
meeting as required under rule 45; 

disciplinary appeal meeting means a meeting of the members of the Association convened 
under rule 22(3); 

disciplinary meeting means a meeting of the Board convened for the purposes of rule 21; 

disciplinary subcommittee means the subcommittee appointed under rule 19; 

financial year means the 12 month period specified in rule 3; 

general meeting means a general meeting of the members of the Association convened in 
accordance with Part 4 and includes an annual general meeting, a special general 
meeting and a disciplinary appeal meeting; 

member means a member of the Association, and includes an associate member, except 
where expressly provided or the context requires otherwise; 

member entitled to vote means a member who under rule 13(2) is entitled to vote at a 
general meeting; 
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person includes a person, firm, association (incorporated or unincorporated) or 
corporation;

special resolution means a resolution that requires not less than three-quarters of the 
members voting at a general meeting or not less than three-quarters of the Board 
members voting at a meeting of the Board, as the case may be, whether in person or 
by proxy, to vote in favour of the resolution; 

the Act means the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 and includes any 
regulations made under that Act; 

the Registrar means the Registrar of Incorporated Associations; 

Victorian grape grower means a person who, on a commercial basis in Victoria, grows 
grapes for use in the production of wine. 

Victorian wine producer means a person who, on a commercial basis in Victoria: 

(i) produces wine, or has wine produced for them, for commercial sale to other
persons; or

(ii) purchases bulk wine for, and sells it under, their own brand.

Victorian wine region means the peak association of a wine region in Victoria. 

PART 2—POWERS OF ASSOCIATION 

5 Powers of Association 

(1) Subject to the Act, the Association has power to do all things incidental or conducive to
achieve its purposes.

(2) Without limiting subrule (1), the Association may—

(a) acquire, hold and dispose of real or personal property;

(b) open and operate accounts with financial institutions;

(c) invest its money in any manner in which trust monies may lawfully be invested;

(d) raise and borrow money on any terms and in any manner as it thinks fit;

(e) secure the repayment of money raised or borrowed, or the payment of a debt or
liability;

(f) appoint agents to transact business on its behalf;

(g) enter into any other contract it considers necessary or desirable.

(3) The Association may only exercise its powers and use its income and assets (including any
surplus) for its purposes.

6 Not for profit organisation 

(1) The Association must not distribute any surplus, income or assets directly or indirectly to
its members.

(2) Subrule (1) does not prevent the Association from paying a member—

(a) reimbursement for expenses properly incurred by the member; or

(b) for goods or services provided by the member—

if this is done in good faith on terms no more favourable than if the member was not a 
member. 

PART 3—MEMBERS, DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES AND GRIEVANCES 
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Division 1—Membership 

7 Minimum number of members 

The Association must have at least 5 members. 

8 Who is eligible to be a member or associate member 

(1) Any person who is a Victorian wine producer, a Victorian grape grower or a Victorian
wine region is eligible for membership.

(2) Any person who wishes to be a member of the association but does not qualify under rule
8(1) is eligible for associate membership.

(3) The Board may from time to time establish different categories of membership and
associate membership.

9 Application for membership 

(1) To apply to become a member of the Association, a person must submit a written
application to the Association stating that the person—

(a) wishes to become a member of the Association; and

(b) supports the purposes of the Association; and

(c) agrees to comply with these Rules.

(2) The application—

(a) must be signed by the applicant; and

(b) must be accompanied by the joining fee (if any).

Note

The joining fee is the fee (if any) determined by the Association under rule 12(3).

10 Consideration of application 

(1) As soon as practicable after an application for membership is received, the Board must
decide by resolution whether to accept or reject the application.

(2) The Board must notify the applicant in writing of its decision as soon as practicable after
the decision is made.

(3) If the Board rejects the application, it must return any money accompanying the
application to the applicant.

(4) No reason need be given for the rejection of an application.

11 New membership 

(1) If an application for membership is approved by the Board—

(a) the resolution to accept the membership must be recorded in the minutes of the
Board meeting; and

(b) the Secretary must, as soon as practicable, enter the name and address of the new
member, and the date of becoming a member, in the register of members.

(2) A person becomes a member of the Association and, subject to rule 13(2), is entitled to
exercise his or her rights of membership from the date, whichever is the later, on which—

(a) the Board approves the person's membership; or

(b) the person pays the joining fee.

     12    Annual subscription and fee on joining 
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(1) At each annual general meeting, the Association must determine—

(a) the amount of the annual subscription (if any) for the following financial year; and

(b) the date for payment of the annual subscription.

Note 

The Board is entitled to determine additional amounts payable by members (or classes of members) from 
time to time under rule 67.

(2) The Association may determine that a lower annual subscription is payable by associate
members.

(3) The Association may determine that any new member who joins after the start of a
financial year must, for that financial year, pay a fee equal to—

(a) the full annual subscription; or

(b) a pro rata annual subscription based on the remaining part of the financial year; or

(c) a fixed amount determined from time to time by the Association.

(4) The rights of a member (including the right to vote) who has not paid the annual
subscription, or any other amount payable to the Association, by the due date are
suspended until the subscription is paid.

13 General rights of members 

(1) A member  entitled to vote has the right—

(a) to receive notice of general meetings and of proposed special resolutions in the
manner and time prescribed by these Rules; and

(b) to submit items of business for consideration at a general meeting; and

(c) to attend and be heard at general meetings; and

(d) to vote at a general meeting; and

(e) to have access to the minutes of general meetings and other documents of the
Association as provided under rule 74; and

(f) to inspect the register of members.

(2) A member is a member entitled to vote if—

(a) the member is not an associate member; and

(b) more than 10 business days have passed since they became a member of the
Association; and

(c) the member's membership rights are not suspended for any reason.

(3) An associate member must not vote but may have other rights as determined by the Board
or by resolution at a general meeting.

14 Rights not transferable 

The rights of a member are not transferable and end when membership ceases. 

      15 Ceasing membership 

(1) The membership of a person ceases on their resignation, expulsion, death, insolvency,
liquidation, administration, cessation or dissolution, as the case may be.

(2) If a person ceases to be a member of the Association, the Secretary must, as soon as
practicable, enter the date the person ceased to be a member in the register of members.
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16 Resigning as a member 

(1) A member may resign by notice in writing given to the Association.

Note

Rule 73(3) sets out how notice may be given to the association.  It includes by post or by handing the notice
to a member of the Board.

(2) A member is taken to have resigned if—

(a) the member's annual subscription is more than 12 months in arrears; or

(b) where no annual subscription is payable—

(i) the Secretary has made a written request to the member to confirm that he or
she wishes to remain a member; and

(ii) the member has not, within 3 months after receiving that request, confirmed in
writing that he or she wishes to remain a member.

17 Register of members 

(1) The Secretary must keep and maintain a register of members that includes—

(a) for each current member—

(i) the member's name;

(ii) the address for notice last given by the member;

(iii) the date of becoming a member;

(iv) if the member is an associate member, a note to that effect;

(v) any other information determined by the Board; and

(b) for each former member, the date of ceasing to be a member.

(2) Any member may, at a reasonable time and free of charge, inspect the register of
members.

Note

Under section 59 of the Act, access to the personal information of a person recorded in the register of
members may be restricted in certain circumstances.  Section 58 of the Act provides that it is an offence to
make improper use of information about a person obtained from the Register of Members.

Division 2—Disciplinary action 

18 Grounds for taking disciplinary action 

The Association may take disciplinary action against a member in accordance with this 
Division if it is determined that the member— 

(a) has failed to comply with these Rules; or

(b) refuses to support the purposes of the Association; or

(c) has engaged in conduct prejudicial to the Association.

19 Disciplinary subcommittee 

(1) If the Board is satisfied that there are sufficient grounds for taking disciplinary action
against a member, the Board must appoint a disciplinary subcommittee of three or more
persons to hear the matter and determine what action, if any, to take against the member.

(2) The members of the disciplinary subcommittee—

(a) may be Board members, members of the Association or anyone else; but
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(b) must not be biased against, or in favour of, the member concerned.

20 Notice to member 

(1) Before disciplinary action is taken against a member, the Secretary must give written
notice to the member—

(a) stating that the Association proposes to take disciplinary action against the member;
and

(b) stating the grounds for the proposed disciplinary action; and

(c) specifying the date, place and time of the meeting at which the disciplinary
subcommittee intends to consider the disciplinary action (the disciplinary meeting);
and

(d) advising the member that he or she may do one or both of the following—

(i) attend the disciplinary meeting and address the disciplinary subcommittee at
that meeting;

(ii) give a written statement to the disciplinary subcommittee at any time before the
disciplinary meeting; and

(e) setting out the member's appeal rights under rule 22.

(2) The notice must be given no earlier than 28 days, and no later than 14 days, before the
disciplinary meeting is held.

21 Decision of subcommittee 

(1) At the disciplinary meeting, the disciplinary subcommittee must—

(a) give the member an opportunity to be heard; and

(b) consider any written statement submitted by the member.

(2) After complying with subrule (1), the disciplinary subcommittee may vote to—

(a) take no further action against the member; or

(b) subject to subrule (3)—

(i) reprimand the member; or

(ii) suspend the membership rights of the member for a specified period; or

(iii) expel the member from the Association.

(3) The disciplinary subcommittee may not fine the member.

(4) The suspension of membership rights or the expulsion of a member by the disciplinary
subcommittee under this rule takes effect immediately after the vote is passed.

     22   Appeal rights 

(1) A person whose membership rights have been suspended or who has been expelled from
the Association under rule 21 may give notice to the effect that he or she wishes to appeal
against the suspension or expulsion.

(2) The notice must be in writing and given—

(a) to the disciplinary subcommittee immediately after the vote to suspend or expel the
person is taken; or

(b) to the Secretary not later than 48 hours after the vote.
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(3) If a person has given notice under subrule (2), a disciplinary appeal meeting must be
convened by the Board as soon as practicable, but in any event not later than 21 days, after
the notice is received.

(4) Notice of the disciplinary appeal meeting must be given to each member of the
Association who is entitled to vote as soon as practicable and must—

(a) specify the date, time and place of the meeting; and

(b) state—

(i) the name of the person against whom the disciplinary action has been taken;
and

(ii) the grounds for taking that action; and

(iii) that at the disciplinary appeal meeting the members present must vote on
whether the decision to suspend or expel the person should be upheld or
revoked.

23 Conduct of disciplinary appeal meeting 

(1) At a disciplinary appeal meeting—

(a) no business other than the question of the appeal may be conducted; and

(b) the Board must state the grounds for suspending or expelling the member and the
reasons for taking that action; and

(c) the person whose membership has been suspended or who has been expelled must be
given an opportunity to be heard.

(2) After complying with subrule (1), the members present and entitled to vote at the meeting
must vote by secret ballot on the question of whether the decision to suspend or expel the
person should be upheld or revoked.

(3) A member may not vote by proxy at the meeting.

(4) The decision to suspend or expel the person is upheld if not less than three quarters of the
members voting at the meeting vote in favour of the decision.

Division 3—Grievance procedure 

24 Application 

(1) The grievance procedure set out in this Division applies to disputes under these Rules
between—

(a) a member and another member;

(b) a member and the Board;

(c) a member and the Association.

(2) A member must not initiate a grievance procedure in relation to a matter that is the subject
of a disciplinary procedure until the disciplinary procedure has been completed.

      25    Parties must attempt to resolve the dispute 

The parties to a dispute must attempt to resolve the dispute between themselves within 14 
days of the dispute coming to the attention of each party. 

26 Appointment of mediator 

(1) If the parties to a dispute are unable to resolve the dispute between themselves within the
time required by rule 25, the parties must within 10 days—

32 of 75



(a) notify the Board of the dispute; and

(b) agree to or request the appointment of a mediator; and

(c) attempt in good faith to settle the dispute by mediation.

(2) The mediator must be—

(a) a person chosen by agreement between the parties; or

(b) in the absence of agreement—

(i) if the dispute is between a member and another member—a person appointed
by the Board; or

(ii) if the dispute is between a member and the Board or the Association—a person
appointed or employed by the Dispute Settlement Centre of Victoria.

(3) A mediator appointed by the Board may be a member or former member of the
Association but in any case must not be a person who—

(a) has a personal interest in the dispute; or

(b) is biased in favour of or against any party.

27 Mediation process 

(1) The mediator to the dispute, in conducting the mediation, must—

(a) give each party every opportunity to be heard; and

(b) allow due consideration by all parties of any written statement submitted by any
party; and

(c) ensure that natural justice is accorded to the parties throughout the mediation
process.

(2) The mediator must not determine the dispute.

(3) The parties must share the costs of the mediation equally, unless the parties agree
otherwise.

28 Failure to resolve dispute by mediation 

If the mediation process does not resolve the dispute, the parties may seek to resolve the 
dispute in accordance with the Act or otherwise at law. 

PART 4—GENERAL MEETINGS OF THE ASSOCIATION 

29 Annual general meetings 

(1) The Board must convene an annual general meeting of the Association to be held within
5 months after the end of each financial year.

(2) Despite subrule (1), the Association may hold its first annual general meeting at any time
within 18 months after its incorporation.

(3) The Board may determine the date, time and place of the annual general meeting.

(4) The ordinary business of the annual general meeting is as follows—

(a) to confirm the minutes of the previous annual general meeting and of any special
general meeting held since then;

(b) to receive and consider—

(i) the annual report of the Board on the activities of the Association during the
preceding financial year; and
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(ii) the financial statements of the Association for the preceding financial year
submitted by the Board in accordance with Part 7 of the Act;

(c) to elect the members of the Board who are standing  for election (or re-election);

(d) to confirm or vary the amounts (if any) of the annual subscription and joining fee.

(5) The annual general meeting may also conduct any other business of which notice has been
given in accordance with these Rules.

30 Special general meetings 

(1) Any general meeting of the Association, other than an annual general meeting or a
disciplinary appeal meeting, is a special general meeting.

(2) The Board may convene a special general meeting whenever it thinks fit.

(3) No business other than that set out in the notice under rule 32 may be conducted at the
meeting.

Note

General business may be considered at the meeting if it is included as an item for consideration in the notice
under rule 32 and the majority of members at the meeting agree.

31 Special general meeting held at request of members 

(1) The Board must convene a special general meeting if a request to do so is made in
accordance with subrule (2) by members with at least 10% of the votes that may be cast at
a special general meeting.

(2) A request for a special general meeting must—

(a) be in writing; and

(b) state the business to be considered at the meeting and any resolutions to be proposed;
and

(c) include the names and signatures of the members requesting the meeting; and

(d) be given to the Secretary.

(3) If the Board does not convene a special general meeting within one month after the date
on which the request is made, the members making the request (or any of them) may
convene the special general meeting.

(4) A special general meeting convened by members under subrule (3)—

(a) must be held within 3 months after the date on which the original request was made;
and

(b) may only consider the business stated in that request.

(5) The Association must reimburse all reasonable expenses incurred by the members
convening a special general meeting under subrule (3).

32 Notice of general meetings 

(1) The Secretary (or, in the case of a special general meeting convened under rule 31(3), the
members convening the meeting) must give to each member of the Association—

(a) at least 21 days' notice of a general meeting if a special resolution is to be proposed
at the meeting; or

(b) at least 14 days' notice of a general meeting in any other case.

(2) The notice must—
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(a) specify the date, time and place of the meeting; and

(b) indicate the general nature of each item of business to be considered at the meeting;
and

(c) if a special resolution is to be proposed—

(i) state in full the proposed resolution; and

(ii) state the intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution; and

(d) comply with rule 33(5).

(3) This rule does not apply to a disciplinary appeal meeting.

Note

Rule 22(4) sets out the requirements for notice of a disciplinary appeal meeting.

33 Proxies 

(1) A member may appoint another member as his or her proxy to vote and speak on his or
her behalf at a general meeting other than at a disciplinary appeal meeting.

(2) The appointment of a proxy must be in writing and signed by the member making the
appointment.

(3) The member appointing the proxy may give specific directions as to how the proxy is to
vote on his or her behalf, otherwise the proxy may vote on behalf of the member in any
matter as he or she sees fit.

(4) If the Board has approved a form for the appointment of a proxy, the member may use any
other form that clearly identifies the person appointed as the member's proxy and that has
been signed by the member.

(5) Notice of a general meeting given to a member under rule 32 must—

(a) state that the member may appoint another member as a proxy for the meeting; and

(b) include a copy of any form that the Board has approved for the appointment of a
proxy.

(6) A form appointing a proxy must be given to the Chairperson of the meeting before or at
the commencement of the meeting.

(7) A form appointing a proxy sent by post or electronically is of no effect unless it is
received by the Association no later than 24 hours before the commencement of the
meeting.

34 Use of technology 

(1) A member not physically present at a general meeting may be permitted to participate in
the meeting by the use of technology that allows that member and the members present at
the meeting to clearly and simultaneously communicate with each other.

(2) For the purposes of this Part, a member participating in a general meeting as permitted
under subrule (1) is taken to be present at the meeting and, if the member votes at the
meeting, is taken to have voted in person.

35 Quorum at general meetings 

(1) No business may be conducted at a general meeting unless a quorum of members is
present.

(2) The quorum for a general meeting is the presence (physically, by proxy or as allowed
under rule 34) of the lesser of 10 members and 10% of the members entitled to vote.
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(3) If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the notified commencement time of a
general meeting—

(a) in the case of a meeting convened by, or at the request of, members under rule 31—
the meeting must be dissolved;

Note

If a meeting convened by, or at the request of, members is dissolved under this subrule, the business
that was to have been considered at the meeting is taken to have been dealt with. If members wish to
have the business reconsidered at another special meeting, the members must make a new request
under rule 31.

(b) in any other case—

(i) the meeting must be adjourned to a date not more than 21 days after the
adjournment; and

(ii) notice of the date, time and place to which the meeting is adjourned must be
given at the meeting and confirmed by written notice given to all members as
soon as practicable after the meeting.

(4) If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time to which a general meeting has
been adjourned under subrule (3)(b), the members present at the meeting (if not fewer than
3) may proceed with the business of the meeting as if a quorum were present.

36 Adjournment of general meeting 

(1) The Chairperson of a general meeting at which a quorum is present may, with the consent
of a majority of members present at the meeting, adjourn the meeting to another time at
the same place or at another place.

(2) Without limiting subrule (1), a meeting may be adjourned—

(a) if there is insufficient time to deal with the business at hand; or

(b) to give the members more time to consider an item of business.

Example 

The members may wish to have more time to examine the financial statements submitted by the Board at an 
annual general meeting. 

(3) No business may be conducted on the resumption of an adjourned meeting other than the
business that remained unfinished when the meeting was adjourned.

(4) Notice of the adjournment of a meeting under this rule is not required unless the meeting
is adjourned for 14 days or more, in which case notice of the meeting must be given in
accordance with rule 32.

37 Voting at general meeting 

(1) On any question arising at a general meeting—

(a) subject to subrule (3) and subrule (5), each member who is entitled to vote has one
vote; and

(b) members may vote personally or by proxy; and

(c) except in the case of a special resolution, the question must be decided on a majority
of votes.

(2) If votes are divided equally on a question, the Chairperson of the meeting has a second or
casting vote.

(3) If the question is whether or not to confirm the minutes of a previous meeting, only
members who were present at that meeting may vote.
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(4) This rule does not apply to a vote at a disciplinary appeal meeting conducted under rule
23.

(5) The Board may from time to time by special resolution grant additional voting rights to
any member that is Victorian wine region, if and to the extent that the financial
contribution made by that member in the current financial year reflects contributions on
behalf of Victorian wine producers and / or Victorian grape growers.

38 Special resolutions 

A special resolution is passed if not less than three quarters of the members voting at a 
general meeting (whether in person or by proxy) vote in favour of the resolution. 

Note 

In addition to certain matters specified in the Act, a special resolution is required— 

(a) to remove a Board member from office ;

(b) to alter these Rules, including changing the name or any of the purposes of the Association.

39 Determining whether resolution carried 

(1) Subject to subsection (2), the Chairperson of a general meeting may, on the basis of a
show of hands, declare that a resolution has been—

(a) carried; or

(b) carried unanimously; or

(c) carried by a particular majority; or

(d) lost—

and an entry to that effect in the minutes of the meeting is conclusive proof of that fact. 

(2) If a poll (where votes are cast in writing) is demanded by three or more members on any
question—

(a) the poll must be taken at the meeting in the manner determined by the Chairperson of
the meeting; and

(b) the Chairperson must declare the result of the resolution on the basis of the poll.

(3) A poll demanded on the election of the Chairperson or on a question of an adjournment
must be taken immediately.

(4) A poll demanded on any other question must be taken before the close of the meeting at a
time determined by the Chairperson.

40 Minutes of general meeting 

(1) The Board must ensure that minutes are taken and kept of each general meeting.

(2) The minutes must record the business considered at the meeting, any resolution on which
a vote is taken and the result of the vote.

(3) In addition, the minutes of each annual general meeting must include—

(a) the names of the members attending the meeting; and

(b) proxy forms given to the Chairperson of the meeting under rule 33(6); and

(c) the financial statements submitted to the members in accordance with rule
29(4)(b)(ii); and

37 of 75



(d) the certificate signed by two Board members certifying that the financial statements
give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the
Association; and

(e) any audited accounts and auditor's report or report of a review accompanying the
financial statements that are required under the Act.

PART 5—BOARD 

Division 1—Powers of Board 

41 Role and powers 

(1) The business of the Association must be managed by or under the direction of a Board.

(2) The Board may exercise all the powers of the Association except those powers that these
Rules or the Act require to be exercised by general meetings of the members of the
Association.

(3) The Board may—

(a) appoint and remove staff;

(b) establish subcommittees consisting of members with terms of reference it considers
appropriate.

42 Delegation 

(1) The Board may delegate to a member of the Board, a subcommittee or staff, any of its
powers and functions other than—

(a) this power of delegation; or

(b) a duty imposed on the Board by the Act or any other law.

(2) The delegation must be in writing and may be subject to the conditions and limitations the
Board considers appropriate.

(3) The Board may, in writing, revoke a delegation wholly or in part.

Division 2—Composition of Board and duties of members 

43 Composition of Board 

The Board consists of— 

(a) a Chairperson; and

(b) if elected, a Deputy Chairperson; and

(c) a Secretary; and

(d) a Treasurer; and

(e) ordinary members (if any) elected under rule 52.

44 General Duties 

(1) As soon as practicable after being elected or appointed to the Board, each Board member
must become familiar with these Rules and the Act.

(2) The Board is collectively responsible for ensuring that the Association complies with the
Act and that individual members of the Board comply with these Rules.

(3) Board members must exercise their powers and discharge their duties with reasonable care
and diligence.
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(4) Board members must exercise their powers and discharge their duties—

(a) in good faith in the best interests of the Association; and

(b) for a proper purpose.

(5) Board members and former Board members must not make improper use of—

(a) their position; or

(b) information acquired by virtue of holding their position—

so as to gain an advantage for themselves or any other person or to cause detriment to the 
Association. 

Note 

See also Division 3 of Part 6 of the Act which sets out the general duties of the office holders of an 
incorporated association. 

(6) In addition to any duties imposed by these Rules, a Board member must perform any other
duties imposed from time to time by resolution at a general meeting.

45 Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson 

(1) Subject to subrule (2), the Chairperson or, in the Chairperson 's absence, the Deputy
Chairperson (if any) is the Chairperson for any general meetings and for any Board
meetings.

(2) If the Chairperson and the Deputy Chairperson (if any) are both absent, or are unable to
preside, the Chairperson of the meeting must be—

(a) in the case of a general meeting—a member elected by the other members present; or

(b) in the case of a Board meeting—a Board member elected by the other Board
members present.

46 Secretary 

(1) The Secretary must perform any duty or function required under the Act to be performed
by the secretary of an incorporated association.

Example

Under the Act, the secretary of an incorporated association is responsible for lodging documents of the
association with the Registrar.

(2) The Secretary must—

(a) maintain the register of members in accordance with rule 17; and

(b) keep custody of the common seal (if any) of the Association and, except for the
financial records referred to in rule 69(3), all books, documents and securities of the
Association in accordance with rules 71 and 74; and

(c) subject to the Act and these Rules, provide members with access to the register of
members, the minutes of general meetings and other books and documents; and

(d) perform any other duty or function imposed on the Secretary by these Rules.

(3) The Secretary must give to the Registrar notice of his or her appointment within 14 days
after the appointment.

(4) The Board may delegate some or all of the Secretary’s responsibilities under these Rules
to a person appointed by the Board.

    47   Treasurer 

(1) The Treasurer must—
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(a) receive all moneys paid to or received by the Association and issue receipts for those
moneys in the name of the Association; and

(b) ensure that all moneys received are paid into the account of the Association within
5 working days after receipt; and

(c) make any payments authorised by the Board or by a general meeting of the
Association from the Association's funds.

(2) The Treasurer must—

(a) ensure that the financial records of the Association are kept in accordance with the
Act; and

(b) coordinate the preparation of the financial statements of the Association and their
certification by the Board prior to their submission to the annual general meeting of
the Association.

(3) The Treasurer must ensure that at least one other Board member has access to the accounts
and financial records of the Association.

(4) The Board may delegate some or all of the Treasurer’s responsibilities under these Rules
to a person appointed by the Board..

Division 3—Election of Board members and tenure of office 

48 Who is eligible to be a Board member 

A person is eligible to be elected or appointed as a Board member if the person— 

(a) is 18 years or over; and

(b) is a member of the Association (including an associate member), or is an employee
or officer of a member of the Association (including an associate member), or is
otherwise eligible as a result of a decision of the Board.

49 Desired skills for Board 

The Association will endeavour to appoint members of the Board with expertise in one or 
more of the following fields: 

(a) grape growing;

(b) winemaking;

(c) marketing;

(d) finance;

(e) business management and administration;

(f) government policy processes and public administration;

(g) strategic management;

(h) administration of research and development;

(i) technology;

(j) law;

(k) human resource management;

(l) communications.

      50   Election of Board 
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(1) Prior to the election of the Board, the Chairperson of the meeting must call for
nominations to fill the number of Board positions which are available.

(2) An eligible member of the Association may—

(a) nominate himself or herself; or

(b) with the member's consent, be nominated by another member.

51 Election of Chairperson etc. 

(1) Once the Board members have been elected, they will vote amongst themselves at the next
Board meeting for the following positions:

(a) Chairperson;

(b) if determined by the Board, Deputy Chairperson;

(c) Secretary;

(d) Treasurer.

(2) If only one member is nominated for a position, the Chairperson of the meeting must
declare the member elected to the position.

(3) If more than one member is nominated, a ballot must be held in accordance with rule 53.

52 Election of ordinary members 

(1) The outgoing Board must by resolution decide the number of members of the Board to
hold office for the next year.

(2) A single election may be held to fill all of those positions.

(3) If the number of members nominated for the position of Board member is less than or
equal to the number to be elected, the Chairperson of the meeting must declare each of
those members to be elected to the position.

(4) If the number of members nominated exceeds the number to be elected, a ballot must be
held in accordance with rule 53.

53 Ballot 

(1) If a ballot is required for the election for a position, the Chairperson of the meeting must
appoint a person to act as returning officer to conduct the ballot.

(2) The returning officer may be the executive officer of the Association.

(3) Before the ballot is taken, each candidate may make a short speech in support of his or her
election.

(4) The election must be by secret ballot, unless the meeting by special resolution has
determined otherwise.

(5) If a secret ballot is to be held, the returning officer must give a blank piece of paper to—

(a) each member present in person; and

(b) each proxy appointed by a member.

Example 

If a member has been appointed the proxy of 5 other members, the member must be given 6 ballot papers—
one for the member and one each for the other members. 

(6) If the ballot is for a single position, the voter must write on the ballot paper the name of
the candidate for whom they wish to vote.

(7) If the ballot is for more than one position—
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(a) the voter must write on the ballot paper the name of each candidate for whom they
wish to vote;

(b) the voter must not write the names of more candidates than the number to be elected.

(8) Ballot papers that do not comply with subrule (7)(b) are not to be counted.

(9) Each ballot paper on which the name of a candidate has been written counts as one vote
for that candidate.

(10) The returning officer must declare elected the candidate or, in the case of an election for
more than one position, the candidates who received the most votes.

(11) If the returning officer is unable to declare the result of an election under subrule (10)
because 2 or more candidates received the same number of votes, the returning officer
must—

(a) conduct a further election for the position in accordance with subrules (4) to (10) to
decide which of those candidates is to be elected; or

(b) with the agreement of those candidates, decide by lot which of them is to be elected.

Examples

The choice of candidate may be decided by the toss of a coin, drawing straws or drawing a name out
of a hat.

54 Term of office 

(1) Subject to the remainder of this rule and rule 55, a Board member holds office until the
positions of the Board for the following year have been determined.

(2) A Board member shall be elected for a two-year term, and may be re-elected.

(3) A general meeting of the Association may—

(a) by special resolution remove a Board member from office; and

(b) elect an eligible member of the Association to fill the vacant position in accordance
with this Division.

(4) A member who is the subject of a proposed special resolution under subrule (3)(a) may
make representations in writing to the Secretary or Chairperson of the Association (not
exceeding a reasonable length) and may request that the representations be provided to the
members of the Association.

(5) The Secretary or the Chairperson may give a copy of the representations to each member
of the Association or, if they are not so given, the member may require that they be read
out at the meeting at which the special resolution is to be proposed.

(6) Half of the members of the Board shall be vacated at each annual general meeting, and

(a) the Board members whose positions are to be the subject of election are those whose
current tenure (i.e. the period since they were most recently elected / re-elected) is
the longest;

(b) if there are more Board members that qualify under subrule 6(a) than vacancies, and
all wish to stand for re-election, the Board members who must stand for re-election
shall be determined by ballot; and

(c) if there are an odd number of Board members, the number shall be rounded down
when determining the number of vacancies.

(7) The Board may, by special resolution of the Board, remove a Board member from office.

55 Vacation of office 
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(1) A Board member may resign from the Board by written notice addressed to the Board.

(2) A person ceases to be a Board member if he or she—

(a) ceases to be a member of the Association; or

(b) fails to attend 3 consecutive Board meetings (other than special or urgent Board
meetings) without leave of absence under rule 66; or

(c) otherwise ceases to be a Board member by operation of section 78 of the Act.

Note 

A Board member may not hold the office of secretary if they do not reside in Australia. 

56 Filling casual vacancies 

(1) The Board may appoint an eligible person to fill a position on the Board that—

(a) has become vacant under rule 54 or rule 55; or

(b) was not filled by election at the last annual general meeting; or

(c) has been determined by the Board as desirable on the basis of skills required by the
Board or the Association, including those listed in rule 49.

(2) If the position of Secretary becomes vacant, the Board must appoint a member to the
position within 14 days after the vacancy arises.

(3) Rule 54 applies to any Board member appointed by the Board under subrule (1) or (2).

(4) The Board may continue to act despite any vacancy in its membership.

Division 4—Meetings of Board 

57 Meetings of Board 

(1) The Board must meet at least 4 times in each year at the dates, times and places
determined by the Board.

(2) The date, time and place of the first Board meeting must be determined by the members of
the Board as soon as practicable after the annual general meeting of the Association at
which the members of the Board were elected.

(3) Special Board meetings may be convened by the Chairperson or by any 4 Board members.

     58  Notice of meetings 

(1) Notice of each Board meeting must be given to each Board member no later than 7 days
before the date of the meeting.

(2) Notice may be given of more than one Board meeting at the same time.

(3) The notice must state the date, time and place of the meeting.

(4) If a special Board meeting is convened, the notice must include the general nature of the
business to be conducted.

(5) The only business that may be conducted at the meeting is the business for which the
meeting is convened.

      59  Urgent meetings 

(1) In cases of urgency, a meeting can be held without notice being given in accordance with
rule 58 provided that as much notice as practicable is given to each Board member by the
quickest means practicable.

(2) Any resolution made at the meeting must be passed by an absolute majority of the Board.
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(3) The only business that may be conducted at an urgent meeting is the business for which
the meeting is convened.

60 Procedure and order of business 

(1) The procedure to be followed at a meeting of a Board must be determined from time to
time by the Board.

(2) The order of business may be determined by the members present at the meeting.

61 Use of technology 

(1) A Board member who is not physically present at a Board meeting may participate in the
meeting by the use of technology that allows that Board member and the Board members
present at the meeting to clearly and simultaneously communicate with each other.

(2) For the purposes of this Part, a Board member participating in a Board meeting as
permitted under subrule (1) is taken to be present at the meeting and, if the member votes
at the meeting, is taken to have voted in person.

62 Quorum 

(1) No business may be conducted at a Board meeting unless a quorum is present.

(2) The quorum for a Board meeting is the presence (in person or as allowed under rule 61) of
a majority of the Board members holding office.

(3) If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the notified commencement time of a
Board meeting—

(a) in the case of a special meeting—the meeting lapses;

(b) in any other case—the meeting must be adjourned to a date no later than 14 days
after the adjournment and notice of the time, date and place to which the meeting is
adjourned must be given in accordance with rule 58.

63 Voting 

(1) On any question arising at a Board meeting, each Board member present at the meeting
has one vote.

(2) A motion is carried if a majority of Board members present at the meeting vote in favour
of the motion.

(3) Subrule (2) does not apply to any motion or question which is required by these Rules to
be passed by an absolute majority of the Board.

(4) If votes are divided equally on a question, the Chairperson of the meeting has a second or
casting vote.

(5) Voting by proxy is not permitted.

      64   Conflict of interest 

(1) A Board member who has a material personal interest in a matter being considered at a
Board meeting must disclose the nature and extent of that interest to the Board.

(2) The member—

(a) must not be present while the matter is being considered at the meeting; and

(b) must not vote on the matter.

Note 

44 of 75



Under section 81(3) of the Act, if there are insufficient Board members to form a quorum because a member 
who has a material personal interest is disqualified from voting on a matter, a general meeting may be called 
to deal with the matter. 

(3) This rule does not apply to a material personal interest—

(a) that exists only because the member belongs to a class of persons for whose benefit
the Association is established; or

(b) that the member has in common with all, or a substantial proportion of, the members
of the Association.

65 Minutes of meeting 

(1) The Board must ensure that minutes are taken and kept of each Board meeting.

(2) The minutes must record the following—

(a) the names of the members in attendance at the meeting;

(b) the business considered at the meeting;

(c) any resolution on which a vote is taken and the result of the vote;

(d) any material personal interest disclosed under rule 64.

66 Leave of absence 

(1) The Board may grant a Board member leave of absence from Board meetings for a period
not exceeding 3 months.

(2) The Board must not grant leave of absence retrospectively unless it is satisfied that it was
not feasible for the Board member to seek the leave in advance.

PART 6—FINANCIAL MATTERS 

67 Source of funds 

The funds of the Association may be derived from joining fees, annual subscriptions, 
donations, fund-raising activities, grants, interest and any other sources approved by the 
Board. 

68 Management of funds 

(1) The Association must open one or more accounts with a financial institution from which
all expenditure of the Association is made and into which all of the Association's revenue
is deposited.

(2) Subject to any restrictions imposed by a general meeting of the Association, the Board
may approve expenditure on behalf of the Association.

(3) The Board may authorise the Treasurer to expend funds on behalf of the Association
(including by electronic funds transfer) up to a specified limit without requiring approval
from the Board for each item on which the funds are expended.

(4) All funds of the Association must be deposited into the financial accounts of the
Association no later than 5 working days after receipt.

(5) With the approval of the Board, the Treasurer may maintain a cash float provided that all
money paid from or paid into the float is accurately recorded at the time of the transaction.

69 Financial records 

(1) The Association must keep financial records that—

(a) correctly record and explain its transactions, financial position and performance; and
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(b) enable financial statements to be prepared as required by the Act.

(2) The Association must retain the financial records for 7 years after the transactions covered
by the records are completed.

(3) The Treasurer must keep in his or her custody, or under his or her control—

(a) the financial records for the current financial year; and

(b) any other financial records as authorised by the Board.

70 Financial statements 

(1) For each financial year, the Board must ensure that the requirements under the Act relating
to the financial statements of the Association are met.

(2) Without limiting subrule (1), those requirements include—

(a) the preparation of the financial statements;

(b) if required, the review or auditing of the financial statements;

(c) the certification of the financial statements by the Board;

(d) the submission of the financial statements to the annual general meeting of the
Association;

(e) the lodgement with the Registrar of the financial statements and accompanying
reports, certificates, statements and fee.

PART 7—GENERAL MATTERS 

71 Common seal 

The Association does not have a common seal. 

72 Registered address 

The registered address of the Association is— 

(a) the address determined from time to time by resolution of the Board; or

(b) if the Board has not determined an address to be the registered address—the postal
address of the Secretary.

73 Notice requirements 

(1) Any notice required to be given to a member or a Board member under these Rules may
be given—

(a) by handing the notice to the member personally; or

(b) by sending it by post to the member at the address recorded for the member on the
register of members; or

(c) by email or facsimile transmission.

(2) Subrule (1) does not apply to notice given under rule 59.

(3) Any notice required to be given to the Association or the Board may be given—

(a) by handing the notice to a member of the Board; or

(b) by sending the notice by post to the registered address; or

(c) by leaving the notice at the registered address; or

(d) if the Board determines that it is appropriate in the circumstances—
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(i) by email to the email address of the Association or the Secretary; or

(ii) by facsimile transmission to the facsimile number of the Association.

74 Custody and inspection of books and records 

(1) Members may on request inspect free of charge—

(a) the register of members;

(b) the minutes of general meetings;

(c) subject to subrule (2), the financial records, books, securities and any other relevant
document of the Association, including minutes of Board meetings.

Note 

See note following rule 17 for details of access to the register of members. 

(2) The Board may refuse to permit a member to inspect records of the Association that relate
to confidential, personal, employment, commercial or legal matters or where to do so may
be prejudicial to the interests of the Association.

(3) The Board must on request make copies of these rules available to members and
applicants for membership free of charge.

(4) Subject to subrule (2), a member may make a copy of any of the other records of the
Association referred to in this rule and the Association may charge a reasonable fee for
provision of a copy of such a record.

(5) For purposes of this rule—

relevant documents means the records and other documents, however compiled, recorded
or stored, that relate to the incorporation and management of the Association and 
includes the following— 

(a) its membership records;

(b) its financial statements;

(c) its financial records;

(d) records and documents relating to transactions, dealings, business or property of
the Association.

75 Winding up and cancellation 

(1) The Association may be wound up voluntarily by special resolution.

(2) In the event of the winding up or the cancellation of the incorporation of the Association,
the surplus assets of the Association must not be distributed to any members or former
members of the Association.

(3) Subject to the Act and any court order made under section 133 of the Act, the surplus
assets must be given to a body that has similar purposes to the Association and which is
not carried on for the profit or gain of its individual members.

(4) The body to which the surplus assets are to be given must be decided by special
resolution.

76 Alteration of Rules 

These Rules may only be altered by special resolution of a general meeting of the 
Association. 

Note 
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An alteration of these Rules does not take effect unless or until it is approved by the Registrar. If these Rules 
(other than rule 1, 2 or 3) are altered, the Association is taken to have adopted its own rules, not the model 
rules. 

═══════════════
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 Rules for anof Victorian Wine Industry Association Incorporated Association, trading as Wine 
Victoria 

Note 

The persons who from time to time are members of the Association are an incorporated association by the name given in rule 
1 of these Rules. 

Under section 46 of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012, these Rules are taken to constitute the terms of a 
contract between the Association and its members. 

PART 1—PRELIMINARY 

1 Name 

The name of the incorporated association is "[insert name] Incorporated".“Victorian Wine 
Industry Association Incorporated".  The Association trades under the name “Wine 
Victoria”.

Note 

Under section 23 of the Act, the name of the association and its registration number must appear on all its 
business documents. 

2 Purposes 

The purposes of the Association are—[insert purposes]. to promote and represent the 
interests of Victorian winemakers and grape growers of all sizes on state and national 
issues through a single organisation.

3 Financial year 

The financial year of the Association is each period of 12 months ending on [insert last 
day of financial year, e.g. "30 June"]..

4 Definitions 

In these Rules— 

absolute majority, of the CommitteeBoard, means a majority of the committeeBoard
members currently holding office and entitled to vote at the time (as distinct from a 
majority of committeeBoard members present at a committeeBoard meeting); 

associate member means a member referred to in rule 14(1);8(2).

Chairperson, of a general meeting or committee meeting, means the person chairing the 
meeting as required under rule 46; 

Committee means the CommitteeBoard means the Board having management of the 
business of the Association; 

committeeBoard meeting means a meeting of the CommitteeBoard held in accordance 
with these Rules; 

committeeBoard member means a member of the CommitteeBoard elected or appointed 
under Division 3 of Part 5; 

Chairperson, of a general meeting or Board meeting, means the person chairing the 
meeting as required under rule 45; 

disciplinary appeal meeting means a meeting of the members of the Association convened 
under rule 2322(3); 

disciplinary meeting means a meeting of the CommitteeBoard convened for the purposes 
of rule 2221; 

disciplinary subcommittee means the subcommittee appointed under rule 2019; 
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financial year means the 12 month period specified in rule 3; 

general meeting means a general meeting of the members of the Association convened in 
accordance with Part 4 and includes an annual general meeting, a special general 
meeting and a disciplinary appeal meeting; 

member means a member of the Association, and includes an associate member, except 
where expressly provided or the context requires otherwise; 

member entitled to vote means a member who under rule 13(2) is entitled to vote at a 
general meeting; 

person includes a person, firm, association (incorporated or unincorporated) or 
corporation;

special resolution means a resolution that requires not less than three-quarters of the 
members voting at a general meeting or not less than three-quarters of the Board 
members voting at a meeting of the Board, as the case may be, whether in person or 
by proxy, to vote in favour of the resolution; 

the Act means the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 and includes any 
regulations made under that Act; 

the Registrar means the Registrar of Incorporated Associations.;

Victorian grape grower means a person who, on a commercial basis in Victoria, grows 
grapes for use in the production of wine. 

Victorian wine producer means a person who, on a commercial basis in Victoria: 

(i) produces wine, or has wine produced for them, for commercial sale to other
persons; or 

(ii) purchases bulk wine for, and sells it under, their own brand.

Victorian wine region means the peak association of a wine region in Victoria. 

PART 2—POWERS OF ASSOCIATION 

5 Powers of Association 

(1) Subject to the Act, the Association has power to do all things incidental or conducive to
achieve its purposes.

(2) Without limiting subrule (1), the Association may—

(a) acquire, hold and dispose of real or personal property;

(b) open and operate accounts with financial institutions;

(c) invest its money in any securitymanner in which trust monies may lawfully be
invested;

(d) raise and borrow money on any terms and in any manner as it thinks fit;

(e) secure the repayment of money raised or borrowed, or the payment of a debt or
liability;

(f) appoint agents to transact business on its behalf;

(g) enter into any other contract it considers necessary or desirable.

(3) The Association may only exercise its powers and use its income and assets (including any
surplus) for its purposes.

6 Not for profit organisation 
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(1) The Association must not distribute any surplus, income or assets directly or indirectly to
its members.

(2) Subrule (1) does not prevent the Association from paying a member—

(a) reimbursement for expenses properly incurred by the member; or

(b) for goods or services provided by the member—

if this is done in good faith on terms no more favourable than if the member was not a 
member. 

Note 

Section 33 of the Act provides that an incorporated association must not secure pecuniary profit for its 
members.  Section 4 of the Act sets out in more detail the circumstances under which an incorporated 
association is not taken to secure pecuniary profit for its members. 

PART 3—MEMBERS, DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES AND GRIEVANCES 

Division 1—Membership 

7 Minimum number of members 

The Association must have at least 5 members. 

8 Who is eligible to be a member or associate member

(1) Any person who supports the purposes of the Association is a Victorian wine producer, a
Victorian grape grower or a Victorian wine region is eligible for membership.

(2) Any person who wishes to be a member of the association but does not qualify under rule
8(1) is eligible for associate membership. 

(3) The Board may from time to time establish different categories of membership and
associate membership. 

9 Application for membership 

(1) To apply to become a member of the Association, a person must submit a written
application to a committee memberthe Association stating that the person—

(a) wishes to become a member of the Association; and

(b) supports the purposes of the Association; and

(c) agrees to comply with these Rules.

(2) The application—

(a) must be signed by the applicant; and

(b) maymust be accompanied by the joining fee. (if any).

Note

The joining fee is the fee (if any) determined by the Association under rule 12(3).

10 Consideration of application 

(1) As soon as practicable after an application for membership is received, the
CommitteeBoard must decide by resolution whether to accept or reject the application.

(2) The CommitteeBoard must notify the applicant in writing of its decision as soon as
practicable after the decision is made.

(3) If the CommitteeBoard rejects the application, it must return any money accompanying
the application to the applicant.
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(4) No reason need be given for the rejection of an application.

11 New membership 

(1) If an application for membership is approved by the CommitteeBoard—

(a) the resolution to accept the membership must be recorded in the minutes of the
committeeBoard meeting; and

(b) the Secretary must, as soon as practicable, enter the name and address of the new
member, and the date of becoming a member, in the register of members.

(2) A person becomes a member of the Association and, subject to rule 13(2), is entitled to
exercise his or her rights of membership from the date, whichever is the later, on which—

(a) the CommitteeBoard approves the person's membership; or

(b) the person pays the joining fee.

     12    Annual subscription and fee on joining 

(1) At each annual general meeting, the Association must determine—

(a) the amount of the annual subscription (if any) for the following financial year; and

(b) the date for payment of the annual subscription.

Note 

The Board is entitled to determine additional amounts payable by members (or classes of members) from 
time to time under rule 67.

(2) The Association may determine that a lower annual subscription is payable by associate
members.

(3) The Association may determine that any new member who joins after the start of a
financial year must, for that financial year, pay a fee equal to—

(a) the full annual subscription; or

(b) a pro rata annual subscription based on the remaining part of the financial year; or

(c) a fixed amount determined from time to time by the Association.

(4) The rights of a member (including the right to vote) who has not paid the annual
subscription, or any other amount payable to the Association, by the due date are
suspended until the subscription is paid.

13 General rights of members 

(1) A member of the Association who is entitled to vote has the right—

(a) to receive notice of general meetings and of proposed special resolutions in the
manner and time prescribed by these Rules; and

(b) to submit items of business for consideration at a general meeting; and

(c) to attend and be heard at general meetings; and

(d) to vote at a general meeting; and

(e) to have access to the minutes of general meetings and other documents of the
Association as provided under rule 7574; and

(f) to inspect the register of members.

(2) A member is a member entitled to vote if—

(a) the member is a member other thannot an associate member; and
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(b) more than 10 business days have passed since he or shethey became a member of the
Association; and

(c) the member's membership rights are not suspended for any reason.

14 Associate members 

(1) Associate members of the Association include—

(a) any members under the age of 15 years; and

(b) any other category of member as determined by special resolution at a general
meeting.

(2  (3)An associate member must not vote but may have other rights as determined by the 
CommitteeBoard or by resolution at a general meeting. 

1514 Rights not transferable 

The rights of a member are not transferable and end when membership ceases. 

1615 Ceasing membership 

(1) The membership of a person ceases on their resignation, expulsion or, death, insolvency,
liquidation, administration, cessation or dissolution, as the case may be.

(2) If a person ceases to be a member of the Association, the Secretary must, as soon as
practicable, enter the date the person ceased to be a member in the register of members.

1716 Resigning as a member 

(1) A member may resign by notice in writing given to the Association.

Note

Rule 7473(3) sets out how notice may be given to the association.  It includes by post or by handing the
notice to a member of the committeeBoard.

(2) A member is taken to have resigned if—

(a) the member's annual subscription is more than 12 months in arrears; or

(b) where no annual subscription is payable—

(i) the Secretary has made a written request to the member to confirm that he or
she wishes to remain a member; and

(ii) the member has not, within 3 months after receiving that request, confirmed in
writing that he or she wishes to remain a member.

1817 Register of members 

(1) The Secretary must keep and maintain a register of members that includes—

(a) for each current member—

(i) the member's name;

(ii) the address for notice last given by the member;

(iii) the date of becoming a member;

(iv) if the member is an associate member, a note to that effect;

(v) any other information determined by the CommitteeBoard; and

(b) for each former member, the date of ceasing to be a member.

(2) Any member may, at a reasonable time and free of charge, inspect the register of
members.
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Note 

Under section 59 of the Act, access to the personal information of a person recorded in the register of 
members may be restricted in certain circumstances.  Section 58 of the Act provides that it is an offence to 
make improper use of information about a person obtained from the Register of Members. 

Division 2—Disciplinary action 

1918 Grounds for taking disciplinary action 

The Association may take disciplinary action against a member in accordance with this 
Division if it is determined that the member— 

(a) has failed to comply with these Rules; or

(b) refuses to support the purposes of the Association; or

(c) has engaged in conduct prejudicial to the Association.

2019 Disciplinary subcommittee 

(1) If the CommitteeBoard is satisfied that there are sufficient grounds for taking disciplinary
action against a member, the CommitteeBoard must appoint a disciplinary subcommittee
of three or more persons to hear the matter and determine what action, if any, to take
against the member. 

(2) The members of the disciplinary subcommittee—

(a) may be CommitteeBoard members, members of the Association or anyone else; but

(b) must not be biased against, or in favour of, the member concerned.

2120 Notice to member 

(1) Before disciplinary action is taken against a member, the Secretary must give written
notice to the member—

(a) stating that the Association proposes to take disciplinary action against the member;
and

(b) stating the grounds for the proposed disciplinary action; and

(c) specifying the date, place and time of the meeting at which the disciplinary
subcommittee intends to consider the disciplinary action (the disciplinary meeting);
and

(d) advising the member that he or she may do one or both of the following—

(i) attend the disciplinary meeting and address the disciplinary subcommittee at
that meeting;

(ii) give a written statement to the disciplinary subcommittee at any time before the
disciplinary meeting; and

(e) setting out the member's appeal rights under rule 2322.

(2) The notice must be given no earlier than 28 days, and no later than 14 days, before the
disciplinary meeting is held.

2221 Decision of subcommittee 

(1) At the disciplinary meeting, the disciplinary subcommittee must—

(a) give the member an opportunity to be heard; and

(b) consider any written statement submitted by the member.

(2) After complying with subrule (1), the disciplinary subcommittee may vote to—
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(a) take no further action against the member; or

(b) subject to subrule (3)—

(i) reprimand the member; or

(ii) suspend the membership rights of the member for a specified period; or

(iii) expel the member from the Association.

(3) The disciplinary subcommittee may not fine the member.

(4) The suspension of membership rights or the expulsion of a member by the disciplinary
subcommittee under this rule takes effect immediately after the vote is passed.

2322    Appeal rights 

(1) A person whose membership rights have been suspended or who has been expelled from
the Association under rule 2221 may give notice to the effect that he or she wishes to
appeal against the suspension or expulsion.

(2) The notice must be in writing and given—

(a) to the disciplinary subcommittee immediately after the vote to suspend or expel the
person is taken; or

(b) to the Secretary not later than 48 hours after the vote.

(3) If a person has given notice under subrule (2), a disciplinary appeal meeting must be
convened by the CommitteeBoard as soon as practicable, but in any event not later than 21
days, after the notice is received.

(4) Notice of the disciplinary appeal meeting must be given to each member of the
Association who is entitled to vote as soon as practicable and must—

(a) specify the date, time and place of the meeting; and

(b) state—

(i) the name of the person against whom the disciplinary action has been taken;
and

(ii) the grounds for taking that action; and

(iii) that at the disciplinary appeal meeting the members present must vote on
whether the decision to suspend or expel the person should be upheld or
revoked.

2423 Conduct of disciplinary appeal meeting 

(1) At a disciplinary appeal meeting—

(a) no business other than the question of the appeal may be conducted; and

(b) the CommitteeBoard must state the grounds for suspending or expelling the member
and the reasons for taking that action; and

(c) the person whose membership has been suspended or who has been expelled must be
given an opportunity to be heard.

(2) After complying with subrule (1), the members present and entitled to vote at the meeting
must vote by secret ballot on the question of whether the decision to suspend or expel the
person should be upheld or revoked.

(3) A member may not vote by proxy at the meeting.
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(4) The decision to suspend or expel the person is upheld if not less than three quarters of the
members voting at the meeting vote in favour of the decision.

Division 3—Grievance procedure 

2524 Application 

(1) The grievance procedure set out in this Division applies to disputes under these Rules
between—

(a) a member and another member;

(b) a member and the CommitteeBoard;

(c) a member and the Association.

(2) A member must not initiate a grievance procedure in relation to a matter that is the subject
of a disciplinary procedure until the disciplinary procedure has been completed.

      26      25    Parties must attempt to resolve the dispute 

The parties to a dispute must attempt to resolve the dispute between themselves within 14 
days of the dispute coming to the attention of each party. 

2726 Appointment of mediator 

(1) If the parties to a dispute are unable to resolve the dispute between themselves within the
time required by rule 2625, the parties must within 10 days—

(a) notify the CommitteeBoard of the dispute; and

(b) agree to or request the appointment of a mediator; and

(c) attempt in good faith to settle the dispute by mediation.

(2) The mediator must be—

(a) a person chosen by agreement between the parties; or

(b) in the absence of agreement—

(i) if the dispute is between a member and another member—a person appointed
by the CommitteeBoard; or

(ii) if the dispute is between a member and the CommitteeBoard or the
Association—a person appointed or employed by the Dispute Settlement Centre
of Victoria.

(3) A mediator appointed by the CommitteeBoard may be a member or former member of the
Association but in any case must not be a person who—

(a) has a personal interest in the dispute; or

(b) is biased in favour of or against any party.

2827 Mediation process 

(1) The mediator to the dispute, in conducting the mediation, must—

(a) give each party every opportunity to be heard; and

(b) allow due consideration by all parties of any written statement submitted by any
party; and

(c) ensure that natural justice is accorded to the parties throughout the mediation
process.
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(2) The mediator must not determine the dispute.

29 (3)The parties must share the costs of the mediation equally, unless the parties agree
otherwise. 

28 Failure to resolve dispute by mediation 

If the mediation process does not resolve the dispute, the parties may seek to resolve the 
dispute in accordance with the Act or otherwise at law. 

PART 4—GENERAL MEETINGS OF THE ASSOCIATION 

3029 Annual general meetings 

(1) The CommitteeBoard must convene an annual general meeting of the Association to be
held within 5 months after the end of each financial year.

(2) Despite subrule (1), the Association may hold its first annual general meeting at any time
within 18 months after its incorporation.

(3) The CommitteeBoard may determine the date, time and place of the annual general
meeting.

(4) The ordinary business of the annual general meeting is as follows—

(a) to confirm the minutes of the previous annual general meeting and of any special
general meeting held since then;

(b) to receive and consider—

(i) the annual report of the CommitteeBoard on the activities of the Association
during the preceding financial year; and

(ii) the financial statements of the Association for the preceding financial year
submitted by the CommitteeBoard in accordance with Part 7 of the Act;

(c) to elect the members of the Committee;Board who are standing  for election (or re-
election);

(d) to confirm or vary the amounts (if any) of the annual subscription and joining fee.

(5) The annual general meeting may also conduct any other business of which notice has been
given in accordance with these Rules.

3130 Special general meetings 

(1) Any general meeting of the Association, other than an annual general meeting or a
disciplinary appeal meeting, is a special general meeting.

(2) The CommitteeBoard may convene a special general meeting whenever it thinks fit.

(3) No business other than that set out in the notice under rule 3332 may be conducted at the
meeting.

Note

General business may be considered at the meeting if it is included as an item for consideration in the notice
under rule 3332 and the majority of members at the meeting agree.

3231 Special general meeting held at request of members 

(1) The CommitteeBoard must convene a special general meeting if a request to do so is made
in accordance with subrule (2) by members with at least 10% of the total number of
membersvotes that may be cast at a special general meeting.

60 of 75



(2) A request for a special general meeting must—

(a) be in writing; and

(b) state the business to be considered at the meeting and any resolutions to be proposed;
and

(c) include the names and signatures of the members requesting the meeting; and

(d) be given to the Secretary.

(3) If the CommitteeBoard does not convene a special general meeting within one month after
the date on which the request is made, the members making the request (or any of them)
may convene the special general meeting.

(4) A special general meeting convened by members under subrule (3)—

(a) must be held within 3 months after the date on which the original request was made;
and

(b) may only consider the business stated in that request.

(5) The Association must reimburse all reasonable expenses incurred by the members
convening a special general meeting under subrule (3).

3332 Notice of general meetings 

(1) The Secretary (or, in the case of a special general meeting convened under rule 3231(3),
the members convening the meeting) must give to each member of the Association—

(a) at least 21 days' notice of a general meeting if a special resolution is to be proposed
at the meeting; or

(b) at least 14 days' notice of a general meeting in any other case.

(2) The notice must—

(a) specify the date, time and place of the meeting; and

(b) indicate the general nature of each item of business to be considered at the meeting;
and

(c) if a special resolution is to be proposed—

(i) state in full the proposed resolution; and

(ii) state the intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution; and

(d) comply with rule 3433(5).

(3) This rule does not apply to a disciplinary appeal meeting.

Note

Rule 2322(4) sets out the requirements for notice of a disciplinary appeal meeting.

3433 Proxies 

(1) A member may appoint another member as his or her proxy to vote and speak on his or
her behalf at a general meeting other than at a disciplinary appeal meeting.

(2) The appointment of a proxy must be in writing and signed by the member making the
appointment.

(3) The member appointing the proxy may give specific directions as to how the proxy is to
vote on his or her behalf, otherwise the proxy may vote on behalf of the member in any
matter as he or she sees fit.
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(4) If the CommitteeBoard has approved a form for the appointment of a proxy, the member
may use any other form that clearly identifies the person appointed as the member's proxy
and that has been signed by the member.

(5) Notice of a general meeting given to a member under rule 3332 must—

(a) state that the member may appoint another member as a proxy for the meeting; and

(b) include a copy of any form that the CommitteeBoard has approved for the
appointment of a proxy.

(6) A form appointing a proxy must be given to the Chairperson of the meeting before or at
the commencement of the meeting.

(7) A form appointing a proxy sent by post or electronically is of no effect unless it is
received by the Association no later than 24 hours before the commencement of the
meeting.

3534 Use of technology 

(1) A member not physically present at a general meeting may be permitted to participate in
the meeting by the use of technology that allows that member and the members present at
the meeting to clearly and simultaneously communicate with each other.

(2) For the purposes of this Part, a member participating in a general meeting as permitted
under subrule (1) is taken to be present at the meeting and, if the member votes at the
meeting, is taken to have voted in person.

3635 Quorum at general meetings 

(1) No business may be conducted at a general meeting unless a quorum of members is
present.

(2) The quorum for a general meeting is the presence (physically, by proxy or as allowed
under rule 35) of34) of the lesser of 10 members and 10% of the members entitled to vote.

(3) If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the notified commencement time of a
general meeting—

(a) in the case of a meeting convened by, or at the request of, members under rule
3231—the meeting must be dissolved;

Note

If a meeting convened by, or at the request of, members is dissolved under this subrule, the business
that was to have been considered at the meeting is taken to have been dealt with. If members wish to
have the business reconsidered at another special meeting, the members must make a new request
under rule 3231.

(b) in any other case—

(i) the meeting must be adjourned to a date not more than 21 days after the
adjournment; and

(ii) notice of the date, time and place to which the meeting is adjourned must be
given at the meeting and confirmed by written notice given to all members as
soon as practicable after the meeting.

(4) If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time to which a general meeting has
been adjourned under subrule (3)(b), the members present at the meeting (if not fewer than
3) may proceed with the business of the meeting as if a quorum were present.

3736 Adjournment of general meeting 
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(1) The Chairperson of a general meeting at which a quorum is present may, with the consent
of a majority of members present at the meeting, adjourn the meeting to another time at
the same place or at another place.

(2) Without limiting subrule (1), a meeting may be adjourned—

(a) if there is insufficient time to deal with the business at hand; or

(b) to give the members more time to consider an item of business.

Example 

The members may wish to have more time to examine the financial statements submitted by the 
CommitteeBoard at an annual general meeting. 

(3) No business may be conducted on the resumption of an adjourned meeting other than the
business that remained unfinished when the meeting was adjourned.

(4) Notice of the adjournment of a meeting under this rule is not required unless the meeting
is adjourned for 14 days or more, in which case notice of the meeting must be given in
accordance with rule 3332.

3837 Voting at general meeting 

(1) On any question arising at a general meeting—

(a) subject to subrule (3) and subrule (5), each member who is entitled to vote has one
vote; and

(b) members may vote personally or by proxy; and

(c) except in the case of a special resolution, the question must be decided on a majority
of votes.

(2) If votes are divided equally on a question, the Chairperson of the meeting has a second or
casting vote.

(3) If the question is whether or not to confirm the minutes of a previous meeting, only
members who were present at that meeting may vote.

(4) This rule does not apply to a vote at a disciplinary appeal meeting conducted under rule
2423.

39 (5)The Board may from time to time by special resolution grant additional voting rights to 
any member that is Victorian wine region, if and to the extent that the financial 
contribution made by that member in the current financial year reflects contributions on 
behalf of Victorian wine producers and / or Victorian grape growers. 

38 Special resolutions 

A special resolution is passed if not less than three quarters of the members voting at a 
general meeting (whether in person or by proxy) vote in favour of the resolution. 

Note 

In addition to certain matters specified in the Act, a special resolution is required— 

(a) to remove a committeeBoard member from office ;

(b) to alter these Rules, including changing the name or any of the purposes of the Association.

4039 Determining whether resolution carried 

(1) Subject to subsection (2), the Chairperson of a general meeting may, on the basis of a
show of hands, declare that a resolution has been—

(a) carried; or
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(b) carried unanimously; or

(c) carried by a particular majority; or

(d) lost—

and an entry to that effect in the minutes of the meeting is conclusive proof of that fact. 

(2) If a poll (where votes are cast in writing) is demanded by three or more members on any
question—

(a) the poll must be taken at the meeting in the manner determined by the Chairperson of
the meeting; and

(b) the Chairperson must declare the result of the resolution on the basis of the poll.

(3) A poll demanded on the election of the Chairperson or on a question of an adjournment
must be taken immediately.

(4) A poll demanded on any other question must be taken before the close of the meeting at a
time determined by the Chairperson.

4140 Minutes of general meeting 

(1) The CommitteeBoard must ensure that minutes are taken and kept of each general
meeting.

(2) The minutes must record the business considered at the meeting, any resolution on which
a vote is taken and the result of the vote.

(3) In addition, the minutes of each annual general meeting must include—

(a) the names of the members attending the meeting; and

(b) proxy forms given to the Chairperson of the meeting under rule 3433(6); and

(c) the financial statements submitted to the members in accordance with rule
3029(4)(b)(ii); and

(d) the certificate signed by two committeeBoard members certifying that the financial
statements give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the
Association; and

(e) any audited accounts and auditor's report or report of a review accompanying the
financial statements that are required under the Act.

PART 5—COMMITTEEBOARD

Division 1—Powers of CommitteeBoard

4241 Role and powers 

(1) The business of the Association must be managed by or under the direction of a
CommitteeBoard.

(2) The CommitteeBoard may exercise all the powers of the Association except those powers
that these Rules or the Act require to be exercised by general meetings of the members of
the Association.

(3) The CommitteeBoard may—

(a) appoint and remove staff;

(b) establish subcommittees consisting of members with terms of reference it considers
appropriate.
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4342 Delegation 

(1) The CommitteeBoard may delegate to a member of the CommitteeBoard, a subcommittee
or staff, any of its powers and functions other than—

(a) this power of delegation; or

(b) a duty imposed on the CommitteeBoard by the Act or any other law.

(2) The delegation must be in writing and may be subject to the conditions and limitations the
CommitteeBoard considers appropriate.

(3) The CommitteeBoard may, in writing, revoke a delegation wholly or in part.

Division 2—Composition of CommitteeBoard and duties of members

4443 Composition of CommitteeBoard

The CommitteeBoard consists of— 

(a) a PresidentChairperson; and

(b) if elected, a Vice-PresidentDeputy Chairperson; and

(c) a Secretary; and

(d) a Treasurer; and

(e) ordinary members (if any) elected under rule 5352.

4544 General Duties 

(1) As soon as practicable after being elected or appointed to the CommitteeBoard, each
committeeBoard member must become familiar with these Rules and the Act.

(2) The CommitteeBoard is collectively responsible for ensuring that the Association
complies with the Act and that individual members of the CommitteeBoard comply with
these Rules.

(3) CommitteeBoard members must exercise their powers and discharge their duties with
reasonable care and diligence.

(4) CommitteeBoard members must exercise their powers and discharge their duties—

(a) in good faith in the best interests of the Association; and

(b) for a proper purpose.

(5) CommitteeBoard members and former committeeBoard members must not make improper
use of—

(a) their position; or

(b) information acquired by virtue of holding their position—

so as to gain an advantage for themselves or any other person or to cause detriment to the 
Association. 

Note 

See also Division 3 of Part 6 of the Act which sets out the general duties of the office holders of an 
incorporated association. 

(6) In addition to any duties imposed by these Rules, a committeeBoard member must
perform any other duties imposed from time to time by resolution at a general meeting.

46 President 45Chairperson and Vice-PresidentDeputy Chairperson
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(1) Subject to subrule (2), the PresidentChairperson or, in the President'sChairperson 's
absence, the Vice-PresidentDeputy Chairperson (if any) is the Chairperson for any general
meetings and for any committeeBoard meetings.

(2) If the PresidentChairperson and the Vice-PresidentDeputy Chairperson (if any) are both
absent, or are unable to preside, the Chairperson of the meeting must be—

(a) in the case of a general meeting—a member elected by the other members present; or

(b) in the case of a committeeBoard meeting—a committeeBoard member elected by the
other committeeBoard members present.

4746 Secretary 

(1) The Secretary must perform any duty or function required under the Act to be performed
by the secretary of an incorporated association.

Example

Under the Act, the secretary of an incorporated association is responsible for lodging documents of the
association with the Registrar.

(2) The Secretary must—

(a) maintain the register of members in accordance with rule 1817; and

(b) keep custody of the common seal (if any) of the Association and, except for the
financial records referred to in rule 7069(3), all books, documents and securities of
the Association in accordance with rules 7271 and 7574; and

(c) subject to the Act and these Rules, provide members with access to the register of
members, the minutes of general meetings and other books and documents; and

(d) perform any other duty or function imposed on the Secretary by these Rules.

(3) The Secretary must give to the Registrar notice of his or her appointment within 14 days
after the appointment.

    48 (4)The Board may delegate some or all of the Secretary’s responsibilities under these 
Rules to a person appointed by the Board. 

    47   Treasurer 

(1) The Treasurer must—

(a) receive all moneys paid to or received by the Association and issue receipts for those
moneys in the name of the Association; and

(b) ensure that all moneys received are paid into the account of the Association within
5 working days after receipt; and

(c) make any payments authorised by the CommitteeBoard or by a general meeting of
the Association from the Association's funds; and.

(d) ensure cheques are signed by at least 2 committee members.

(2) The Treasurer must—

(a) ensure that the financial records of the Association are kept in accordance with the
Act; and

(b) coordinate the preparation of the financial statements of the Association and their
certification by the CommitteeBoard prior to their submission to the annual general
meeting of the Association.
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(3) The Treasurer must ensure that at least one other committeeBoard member has access to
the accounts and financial records of the Association.

(4) The Board may delegate some or all of the Treasurer’s responsibilities under these Rules
to a person appointed by the Board.. 

Division 3—Election of CommitteeBoard members and tenure of office 

4948 Who is eligible to be a CommitteeBoard member 

A memberperson is eligible to be elected or appointed as a committeeBoard member if the 
memberperson— 

(a) is 18 years or over; and

(b) is entitled to vote at a general meeting.

50 Positions to be declared vacant 

(1) This rule applies to—

(a) the first annual general meetingmember of the Association after its
incorporation;(including an associate member), or

(b) any subsequent annual general meeting is an employee or officer of a member of the
Association (including an associate member), or is otherwise eligible as a result of a
decision of the Association, after the annual report and financial statements of the
Association have been receivedBoard.

(2)49 Desired skills for Board

The ChairpersonAssociation will endeavour to appoint members of the meeting must 
declare all positions onBoard with expertise in one or more of the Committee 
vacantfollowing fields: 

(a) grape growing;

(b) winemaking;

(c) marketing;

(d) finance;

(e) business management and hold elections for those positions in accordance with rules
51 to 54.administration;

      51   Nominations 

(f) government policy processes and public administration;

(g) strategic management;

(h) administration of research and development;

(i) technology;

(j) law;

(k) human resource management;

(l) communications.

      50   Election of Board 

(1) Prior to the election of each positionthe Board, the Chairperson of the meeting must call
for nominations to fill that positionthe number of Board positions which are available.

(2) An eligible member of the Association may—
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(a) nominate himself or herself; or

(b) with the member's consent, be nominated by another member.

(3) A member who is nominated for a position and fails to be elected to that position may be
nominated for any other position for which an election is yet to be held.

52 Election of President etc. 

51 Election of Chairperson etc. 

(1) AtOnce the annual generalBoard members have been elected, they will vote amongst
themselves at the next Board meeting, separate elections must be held for each of the
following positions—:

(a) PresidentChairperson;

(b) Vice-Presidentif determined by the Board, Deputy Chairperson;

(c) Secretary;

(d) Treasurer.

(2) If only one member is nominated for thea position, the Chairperson of the meeting must
declare the member elected to the position.

(3) If more than one member is nominated, a ballot must be held in accordance with rule
5453.

(4) On his or her election, the new President may take over as Chairperson of the meeting.

5352 Election of ordinary members 

(1) The annual general meetingoutgoing Board must by resolution decide the number of
ordinary members of the Committee (if any) it wishesBoard to hold office for the next
year.

(2) A single election may be held to fill all of those positions.

(3) If the number of members nominated for the position of ordinary committeeBoard
member is less than or equal to the number to be elected, the Chairperson of the meeting
must declare each of those members to be elected to the position.

(4) If the number of members nominated exceeds the number to be elected, a ballot must be
held in accordance with rule 5453.

5453 Ballot 

(1) If a ballot is required for the election for a position, the Chairperson of the meeting must
appoint a memberperson to act as returning officer to conduct the ballot.

(2) The returning officer must notmay be a member nominated for the positionexecutive
officer of the Association.

(3) Before the ballot is taken, each candidate may make a short speech in support of his or her
election.

(4) The election must be by secret ballot, unless the meeting by special resolution has
determined otherwise.

(5) If a secret ballot is to be held, the returning officer must give a blank piece of paper to—

(a) each member present in person; and

(b) each proxy appointed by a member.

Example 
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If a member has been appointed the proxy of 5 other members, the member must be given 6 ballot papers—
one for the member and one each for the other members. 

(6) If the ballot is for a single position, the voter must write on the ballot paper the name of
the candidate for whom they wish to vote.

(7) If the ballot is for more than one position—

(a) the voter must write on the ballot paper the name of each candidate for whom they
wish to vote;

(b) the voter must not write the names of more candidates than the number to be elected.

(8) Ballot papers that do not comply with subrule (7)(b) are not to be counted.

(9) Each ballot paper on which the name of a candidate has been written counts as one vote
for that candidate.

(10) The returning officer must declare elected the candidate or, in the case of an election for
more than one position, the candidates who received the most votes.

(11) If the returning officer is unable to declare the result of an election under subrule (10)
because 2 or more candidates received the same number of votes, the returning officer
must—

(a) conduct a further election for the position in accordance with subrules (4) to (10) to
decide which of those candidates is to be elected; or

(b) with the agreement of those candidates, decide by lot which of them is to be elected.

Examples

The choice of candidate may be decided by the toss of a coin, drawing straws or drawing a name out
of a hat.

5554 Term of office 

(1) Subject to subrule (3) the remainder of this rule and rule 5655, a committeeBoard member
holds office until the positions of the Committee are declared vacant at the next annual
general meetingBoard for the following year have been determined.

(2) A committeeBoard member shall be elected for a two-year term, and may be re-elected.

(3) A general meeting of the Association may—

(a) by special resolution remove a committeeBoard member from office; and

(b) elect an eligible member of the Association to fill the vacant position in accordance
with this Division.

(4) A member who is the subject of a proposed special resolution under subrule (3)(a) may
make representations in writing to the Secretary or PresidentChairperson of the
Association (not exceeding a reasonable length) and may request that the representations
be provided to the members of the Association.

(5) The Secretary or the PresidentChairperson may give a copy of the representations to each
member of the Association or, if they are not so given, the member may require that they
be read out at the meeting at which the special resolution is to be proposed.

56(6) Half of the members of the Board shall be vacated at each annual general meeting, and  

(a) the Board members whose positions are to be the subject of election are those whose
current tenure (i.e. the period since they were most recently elected / re-elected) is 
the longest;  
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(b) if there are more Board members that qualify under subrule 6(a) than vacancies, and
all wish to stand for re-election, the Board members who must stand for re-election 
shall be determined by ballot; and 

(c) if there are an odd number of Board members, the number shall be rounded down
when determining the number of vacancies. 

(7) The Board may, by special resolution of the Board, remove a Board member from office.

55 Vacation of office 

(1) A committeeBoard member may resign from the CommitteeBoard by written notice
addressed to the CommitteeBoard.

(2) A person ceases to be a committeeBoard member if he or she—

(a) ceases to be a member of the Association; or

(b) fails to attend 3 consecutive committeeBoard meetings (other than special or urgent
committeeBoard meetings) without leave of absence under rule 6766; or

(c) otherwise ceases to be a committeeBoard member by operation of section 78 of the
Act.

Note 

A CommitteeBoard member may not hold the office of secretary if they do not reside in Australia. 

5756 Filling casual vacancies 

(1) The CommitteeBoard may appoint an eligible member of the Associationperson to fill a
position on the CommitteeBoard that—

(a) has become vacant under rule 56;54 or rule 55; or

(b) was not filled by election at the last annual general meeting.; or

(c) has been determined by the Board as desirable on the basis of skills required by the
Board or the Association, including those listed in rule 49. 

(2) If the position of Secretary becomes vacant, the CommitteeBoard must appoint a member
to the position within 14 days after the vacancy arises.

(3) Rule 5554 applies to any committeeBoard member appointed by the CommitteeBoard
under subrule (1) or (2).

(4) The CommitteeBoard may continue to act despite any vacancy in its membership.

Division 4—Meetings of CommitteeBoard

5857 Meetings of CommitteeBoard

(1) The CommitteeBoard must meet at least 4 times in each year at the dates, times and places
determined by the CommitteeBoard.

(2) The date, time and place of the first committeeBoard meeting must be determined by the
members of the CommitteeBoard as soon as practicable after the annual general meeting
of the Association at which the members of the CommitteeBoard were elected.

(3) Special committeeBoard meetings may be convened by the PresidentChairperson or by
any 4 Board members of the Committee..

     59     58  Notice of meetings 
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(1) Notice of each committeeBoard meeting must be given to each committeeBoard member
no later than 7 days before the date of the meeting.

(2) Notice may be given of more than one committeeBoard meeting at the same time.

(3) The notice must state the date, time and place of the meeting.

(4) If a special committeeBoard meeting is convened, the notice must include the general
nature of the business to be conducted.

(5) The only business that may be conducted at the meeting is the business for which the
meeting is convened.

6059  Urgent meetings 

(1) In cases of urgency, a meeting can be held without notice being given in accordance with
rule 5958 provided that as much notice as practicable is given to each committeeBoard
member by the quickest means practicable.

(2) Any resolution made at the meeting must be passed by an absolute majority of the
CommitteeBoard.

(3) The only business that may be conducted at an urgent meeting is the business for which
the meeting is convened.

6160 Procedure and order of business 

(1) The procedure to be followed at a meeting of a CommitteeBoard must be determined from
time to time by the CommitteeBoard.

(2) The order of business may be determined by the members present at the meeting.

6261 Use of technology 

(1) A committeeBoard member who is not physically present at a committeeBoard meeting
may participate in the meeting by the use of technology that allows that committeeBoard
member and the committeeBoard members present at the meeting to clearly and
simultaneously communicate with each other.

(2) For the purposes of this Part, a committeeBoard member participating in a
committeeBoard meeting as permitted under subrule (1) is taken to be present at the
meeting and, if the member votes at the meeting, is taken to have voted in person.

6362 Quorum 

(1) No business may be conducted at a CommitteeBoard meeting unless a quorum is present.

(2) The quorum for a committeeBoard meeting is the presence (in person or as allowed under
rule 6261) of a majority of the committeeBoard members holding office.

(3) If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the notified commencement time of a
committeeBoard meeting—

(a) in the case of a special meeting—the meeting lapses;

(b) in any other case—the meeting must be adjourned to a date no later than 14 days
after the adjournment and notice of the time, date and place to which the meeting is
adjourned must be given in accordance with rule 5958.

6463 Voting 

(1) On any question arising at a committeeBoard meeting, each committeeBoard member
present at the meeting has one vote.
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(2) A motion is carried if a majority of committeeBoard members present at the meeting vote
in favour of the motion.

(3) Subrule (2) does not apply to any motion or question which is required by these Rules to
be passed by an absolute majority of the CommitteeBoard.

(4) If votes are divided equally on a question, the Chairperson of the meeting has a second or
casting vote.

(5) Voting by proxy is not permitted.

6564   Conflict of interest 

(1) A committeeBoard member who has a material personal interest in a matter being
considered at a committeeBoard meeting must disclose the nature and extent of that
interest to the CommitteeBoard.

(2) The member—

(a) must not be present while the matter is being considered at the meeting; and

(b) must not vote on the matter.

Note 

Under section 81(3) of the Act, if there are insufficient committeeBoard members to form a quorum because 
a member who has a material personal interest is disqualified from voting on a matter, a general meeting 
may be called to deal with the matter. 

(3) This rule does not apply to a material personal interest—

(a) that exists only because the member belongs to a class of persons for whose benefit
the Association is established; or

(b) that the member has in common with all, or a substantial proportion of, the members
of the Association.

6665 Minutes of meeting 

(1) The CommitteeBoard must ensure that minutes are taken and kept of each
committeeBoard meeting.

(2) The minutes must record the following—

(a) the names of the members in attendance at the meeting;

(b) the business considered at the meeting;

(c) any resolution on which a vote is taken and the result of the vote;

(d) any material personal interest disclosed under rule 6564.

6766 Leave of absence 

(1) The CommitteeBoard may grant a committeeBoard member leave of absence from
committeeBoard meetings for a period not exceeding 3 months.

(2) The CommitteeBoard must not grant leave of absence retrospectively unless it is satisfied
that it was not feasible for the committeeBoard member to seek the leave in advance.

PART 6—FINANCIAL MATTERS 

6867 Source of funds 

The funds of the Association may be derived from joining fees, annual subscriptions, 
donations, fund-raising activities, grants, interest and any other sources approved by the 
CommitteeBoard. 
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      69  68Management of funds 

(1) The Association must open an accountone or more accounts with a financial institution
from which all expenditure of the Association is made and into which all of the
Association's revenue is deposited.

(2) Subject to any restrictions imposed by a general meeting of the Association, the
CommitteeBoard may approve expenditure on behalf of the Association.

(3) The CommitteeBoard may authorise the Treasurer to expend funds on behalf of the
Association (including by electronic funds transfer) up to a specified limit without
requiring approval from the CommitteeBoard for each item on which the funds are
expended.

(4) All cheques, drafts, bills of exchange, promissory notes and other negotiable instruments
must be signed by 2 committee members.

(5) All funds of the Association must be deposited into the financial accountaccounts of the
Association no later than 5 working days after receipt.

(65) With the approval of the CommitteeBoard, the Treasurer may maintain a cash float
provided that all money paid from or paid into the float is accurately recorded at the time
of the transaction.

7069 Financial records 

(1) The Association must keep financial records that—

(a) correctly record and explain its transactions, financial position and performance; and

(b) enable financial statements to be prepared as required by the Act.

(2) The Association must retain the financial records for 7 years after the transactions covered
by the records are completed.

(3) The Treasurer must keep in his or her custody, or under his or her control—

(a) the financial records for the current financial year; and

(b) any other financial records as authorised by the CommitteeBoard.

7170 Financial statements 

(1) For each financial year, the CommitteeBoard must ensure that the requirements under the
Act relating to the financial statements of the Association are met.

(2) Without limiting subrule (1), those requirements include—

(a) the preparation of the financial statements;

(b) if required, the review or auditing of the financial statements;

(c) the certification of the financial statements by the CommitteeBoard;

(d) the submission of the financial statements to the annual general meeting of the
Association;

(e) the lodgement with the Registrar of the financial statements and accompanying
reports, certificates, statements and fee.

PART 7—GENERAL MATTERS 

7271 Common seal 

(1) The Association maydoes not have a common seal.
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(2) If the Association has a common seal—

(a) the name of the Association must appear in legible characters on the common seal;

(b) a document may only be sealed with the common seal by the authority of the
Committee and the sealing must be witnessed by the signatures of two committee
members;

(c) the common seal must be kept in the custody of the Secretary.

73 72Registered address 

The registered address of the Association is— 

(a) the address determined from time to time by resolution of the CommitteeBoard; or

(b) if the CommitteeBoard has not determined an address to be the registered address—
the postal address of the Secretary.

7473 Notice requirements 

(1) Any notice required to be given to a member or a committeeBoard member under these
Rules may be given—

(a) by handing the notice to the member personally; or

(b) by sending it by post to the member at the address recorded for the member on the
register of members; or

(c) by email or facsimile transmission.

(2) Subrule (1) does not apply to notice given under rule 6059.

(3) Any notice required to be given to the Association or the CommitteeBoard may be
given—

(a) by handing the notice to a member of the CommitteeBoard; or

(b) by sending the notice by post to the registered address; or

(c) by leaving the notice at the registered address; or

(d) if the CommitteeBoard determines that it is appropriate in the circumstances—

(i) by email to the email address of the Association or the Secretary; or

(ii) by facsimile transmission to the facsimile number of the Association.

7574 Custody and inspection of books and records 

(1) Members may on request inspect free of charge—

(a) the register of members;

(b) the minutes of general meetings;

(c) subject to subrule (2), the financial records, books, securities and any other relevant
document of the Association, including minutes of CommitteeBoard meetings.

Note 

See note following rule 1817 for details of access to the register of members. 

(2) The CommitteeBoard may refuse to permit a member to inspect records of the Association
that relate to confidential, personal, employment, commercial or legal matters or where to
do so may be prejudicial to the interests of the Association.

(3) The CommitteeBoard must on request make copies of these rules available to members
and applicants for membership free of charge.

74 of 75



(4) Subject to subrule (2), a member may make a copy of any of the other records of the
Association referred to in this rule and the Association may charge a reasonable fee for
provision of a copy of such a record.

(5) For purposes of this rule—

relevant documents means the records and other documents, however compiled, recorded
or stored, that relate to the incorporation and management of the Association and 
includes the following— 

(a) its membership records;

(b) its financial statements;

(c) its financial records;

(d) records and documents relating to transactions, dealings, business or property of
the Association.

7675 Winding up and cancellation 

(1) The Association may be wound up voluntarily by special resolution.

(2) In the event of the winding up or the cancellation of the incorporation of the Association,
the surplus assets of the Association must not be distributed to any members or former
members of the Association.

(3) Subject to the Act and any court order made under section 133 of the Act, the surplus
assets must be given to a body that has similar purposes to the Association and which is
not carried on for the profit or gain of its individual members.

(4) The body to which the surplus assets are to be given must be decided by special
resolution.

7776 Alteration of Rules 

These Rules may only be altered by special resolution of a general meeting of the 
Association. 

Note 

An alteration of these Rules does not take effect unless or until it is approved by the Registrar. If these Rules 
(other than rule 1, 2 or 3) are altered, the Association is taken to have adopted its own rules, not the model 
rules. 

═══════════════
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